
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Council – 
Extraordinary 
Meeting 
 

Tue 5 Dec 
2023 
7.00 pm (or, if later, as 

soon as possible once the 
Executive Committee 
meeting immediately prior to 

this meeting has finished) 
 

Council Chamber, 
Redditch Town Hall, 
Walter Stranz Square 
Redditch 
B98 8AH 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 

If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact  
Jess Bayley-Hill 

 
Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 

Tel: (01527) 64252 (Ext. 3072)  
e.mail: jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  

 
GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE MEETINGS 

 
 
Please note that this is a public meeting and will be live streamed for general access 

via the Council’s YouTube channel. 

You are able to see and hear the livestream of the meeting from the Committee Pages 

of the website, alongside the agenda for the meeting. 

Live stream of the Council meeting - 5th December 2023 

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers, please do not 

hesitate to contact the officer named above. 

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS ATTENDING MEETINGS IN PERSON 

 

Meeting attendees are encouraged not to attend the meeting if they have common cold 

symptoms or any of the following common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; 

a high temperature, a new and continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste. 

 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 

 

Members of the public are encouraged not to attend the meeting if they have common cold 

symptoms or any of the following common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; 

a high temperature, a new and continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste. 

 

Notes:  

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when Council might have 

to move into closed session to consider exempt or confidential information.  For 

agenda items that are exempt, the public are excluded. 

 

mailto:jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk
https://youtube.com/live/eH0NUE3-Kg4?feature=share


 
 

 
 
 

Council 
 

 

 

 

Tuesday, 5th December, 2023 

7.00 pm 

Council Chamber, Redditch 
Town Hall, Walter Stranz 

Square, Redditch B98 8AH 
 

 

Agenda Membership: 

 Cllrs: Salman Akbar 
(Mayor) 
Karen Ashley 
(Deputy Mayor) 
Imran Altaf 
Joe Baker 
Juliet Barker Smith 
Joanne Beecham 
Juma Begum 
Brandon Clayton 
Luke Court 
Matthew Dormer 
James Fardoe 
Peter Fleming 
Alex Fogg 
Andrew Fry 
Lucy Harrison 
 

Bill Hartnett 
Sharon Harvey 
Chris Holz 
Joanna Kane 
Sid Khan 
Anthony Lovell 
Emma Marshall 
Kerrie Miles 
Gemma Monaco 
Timothy Pearman 
Jane Spilsbury 
Monica Stringfellow 
Craig Warhurst 
Ian Woodall 
 

 

1. Welcome   
 

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declarations of Interest   
 

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other Disclosable 
Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm the nature of those interests. 
 

4. Minutes (Pages 5 - 10)  
 

5. Statutory Officer Posts - Appointments (Pages 11 - 24)  
 

6. Joint Auditors 2020-2021 and 2022-2023 Annual Report  (Pages 25 - 84) 
 

Council will be invited to consider recommendations on this subject made at a meeting of the 
Executive Committee immediately preceding the Council meeting on 5th December 2023. 
 
This matter was also considered at a meeting of the Audit, Governance and Standards 
Committee held on 23rd November 2023.  An extract from the minutes of that meeting will be 
published in a supplementary pack for consideration at this Council meeting. 



 

 

Council 
 

 

 

Tuesday, 5th December, 2023 

 

 

7. Urgent Business - general (if any)   
 

To consider any additional items exceptionally agreed by the Mayor as Urgent Business in 
accordance with the powers vested in him by virtue of Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
(This power should be exercised only in cases where there are genuinely special 
circumstances which require consideration of an item which has not previously been 
published on the Order of Business for the meeting.) 



 

 
 

Council 
 

 Monday, 13th November, 
2023 

 

 

 Chair 
 

 
 

MINUTES Present: 

  
Councillors Salman Akbar, Imran Altaf, Joe Baker, Juliet Barker Smith, 
Joanne Beecham, Juma Begum, Brandon Clayton, Luke Court, 
Matthew Dormer, James Fardoe, Peter Fleming, Alex Fogg, Andrew Fry, 
Lucy Harrison, Bill Hartnett, Sharon Harvey, Chris Holz, Joanna Kane, 
Sid Khan, Anthony Lovell, Emma Marshall, Gemma Monaco, 
Timothy Pearman, Jane Spilsbury, Monica Stringfellow, Craig Warhurst 
and Ian Woodall 

  

  

 Officers: 
 

 Peter Carpenter, Nicola Cummings, Claire Green, Sue Hanley and Guy 
Revans 
 

 Principal Democratic Services Officer: 
 

 Jess Bayley-Hill  

 
 

40. WELCOME  
 
The Mayor welcomed all present to the meeting. 
 

41. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Karen 
Ashley and Kerrie Miles.  
 

42. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

43. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED that  
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on Monday 25th 
September 2023 be approved as a true and correct record and 
signed by the Mayor. 

 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 
 

 
 

Monday, 13th November, 2023 

 

44. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The following announcements were made: 
 

a) The Mayor’s Announcements 
 
The Mayor advised that a record of the civic engagements 
which had been attended by him and the Deputy Mayor 
since the previous meeting had been included in agenda 
pack 1 for Members’ consideration.  
 
The Mayor also reported that over the previous weekend he 
had sent a letter using the Mayoral letterhead and 
apologised, stating his remorse  for doing so. 
 

b) The Leader’s Announcements 
 
The Leader reported that he had attended the Economy 
Growth Board, the Housing Land Delivery Board, the 
Investment Board and Combined Authority Board over the 
last month.  He had also attended Remembrance events 
over the weekend. 
 
The Leader would update the Group Leaders on 
developments with North Worcestershire EDR outside the 
meeting. 
 

c) The Chief Executive’s Announcements 
 
The Interim Chief Executive confirmed she had no 
announcements to make on this occasion. 
 

45. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE (PROCEDURE RULE 9)  
 
Three Questions on Notice had been received for this meeting.   
 
Notice of Consultation RBC Tenancy Agreement 
 
Ms J. Snape asked the Leader: “Could the leader please inform us 
of the cost to the Council of having to reissue the Notice of 
Consultation on RBC's Tenancy Agreement to all Council tenants, 
due to having issued the initial letter with the incorrect phone 
number on it?” 
 
The Leader responded that with regret and sincere apologies from 
Officers this letter was reissued when it became apparent that in 
error part of the telephone number was transposed. 
 

Page 6 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 
 

 
 

Monday, 13th November, 2023 

 

The Leader advised that the letter was sent on the 23rd October 
2023 to 5,279 tenants.  It was in black and white (mono) on one 
side of A4.  The cost of this mailing was £745.45. 

The Leader was pleased to report that to date the Council had 
received 73 written responses to the consultation and 142 residents 
were consulted with roadshows held in 12 locations. 

Ms Snape asked a supplementary question, about whether the 
Leader or Portfolio Holder should have proof read the letter before it 
was sent out.  The Leader responded that Officers were responsible 
for drafting the letter and it would not be appropriate for councillors 
to do so.  A regrettable human error had occurred on this occasion. 

 
Levelling Up Funding Matchborough and Winyates 
 
Councillor J. Spilsbury asked the Leader “How can the leader 
demonstrate his commitment in real terms to residents of 
Matchborough and Winyates, given the failure to secure levelling up 
funding?” 
 
The Leader responded that he had commitment to the whole town.  
He had requested the preparation of a comprehensive pre-
development feasibility study for the regeneration of Matchborough 
and Winyates, which was commissioned by NWedR on behalf of 
the council and delivered by Arcadis. This included the preparation 
of several development options for each local centre including 
feasibility studies, concept designs and viability assessments and 
appraisals. This work provided the core of the evidence base 
included in the LUF 2 bid and would be used in future bids for 
government grants and other relevant external funding 
programmes.  There was no call for any Council to bid in Levelling 
Up Fund 3, it was an allocation.  As the Council had already 
received funds from another source it was likely to be a challenge to 
receive further money. 
 
The Leader invited Andy Street, the Mayor of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority (WMCA), to a site visit in Redditch to discuss 
key regeneration plans for the town, including the regeneration of 
Matchborough and Winyates. As a result, conversations between 
WMCA, RBC and NWedR officers had commenced to explore 
potential WMCA support for the regeneration of Matchborough and 
Winyates. These included initial work on strategic fit, value for 
money and eligibility requirements of the various WMCA funding 
programmes that the council may be able to apply to as a non-
constituent member of the Combined Authority. NWedR and RBC 
officers were working together to formulate the next steps. 
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 
 

 
 

Monday, 13th November, 2023 

 

Councillor Spilsbury asked a supplementary question about when 
residents could expect to hear confirmation of firm plans.   
 
The Leader replied that he could not give firm dates about the 
Matchborough regeneration.  The plans had been in place for 10 
years and he was committed to see Matchborough get its fair share 
of funding.  The Council would continue to seek funding and he 
referred in particular to potential opportunities with West Midlands 
Combined Authority. 
 
Relocation of Redditch Library 
 
Mr O. Hale asked the Leader: “With regards to the relocation of the 
Library to the Town Hall, Redditch Council said they would not back 
the relocation if the majority of the population of Redditch did not 
want it relocated. Considering that the consultation sample showed 
that exact result, with a '99% confidence that the population would 
give the same result as the sample', can the Leader confirm if 
Redditch Council will continue to back the relocation?” 
 
The Leader replied that the number of responses to the consultation 
was disappointing. A thorough process had been undertaken by 
officers both at the County and Borough Councils and prior to that 
by the Towns Deal Board in working up the proposals.  The County 
Council had decided to move the library into the Town Hall and the 
Borough Council would facilitate that. 
 
Mr. Hale asked a supplementary question that given reports about 
the consultation said that the number of participants gave a valid 
response, and demonstrated that the people of Redditch did not 
want the library to move, was the Leader able to say that this was 
what the people of Redditch wanted? 
 
The Leader replied that he believed the people of Redditch did want 
the project and the number of respondents to the consultation 
represented 1% of the population of the town. 
 

46. MOTIONS ON NOTICE (PROCEDURE RULE 11)  
 
The Mayor announced that there were no Motions on Notice for 
consideration at this meeting. 
 

47. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
 
Council considered the minutes of the meeting of the Executive 
Committee held on 31st October 2023. 

 

Page 8 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 
 

 
 

Monday, 13th November, 2023 

 

Garden Waste Service 
 
Members supported the recommendations to introduce a garden 
waste service in the Borough which would increase the capacity of 
the service and enable more residents to take it up.  In response to 
queries from members, the Portfolio Holder reported that officers 
were working on a theme for the vehicle to highlight the service and 
green credentials.  The new service would begin in February 2024, 
and the service that had until now been operated by Bromsgrove 
District Council on the Borough’s behalf had demonstrated the 
demand for the service from residents.   The Portfolio Holder 
confirmed that the Council would continue to promote home 
composting.  
 
Annual Refresh of Council Plan 
 
During the debate on this item the view was expressed that the 
priorities were not appropriate, and the Council’s finances could be 
managed better.  The Leader of the Council responded that the 
priorities in the plan reflected those of the residents on Redditch 
who had contributed to the consultation and the Council’s finances 
were stable. 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan Tranche 1 Budget - including Fees 
and Charges (prior to consultation) 
 
During consideration of the recommendation about the play audit, 
the view was expressed that whilst supporting this, it was 
disappointing that smaller play areas were not included.  The 
Portfolio Holder invited all members to contact her to discuss 
potential improvements to play areas in their wards.   
 
In response to questions about the process for the medium-term 
financial plan, the Interim S151 Officer clarified that fees and 
charges would be presented to Executive Committee in early 
December following consideration by the Budget Scrutiny Working 
Group.  They would then be presented to Council in January 2024, 
 
RESOLVED that 
  
the minutes of the meetings of the Executive Committee held 
on 31st October 2023 be received and all recommendations 
adopted. 
  

48. URGENT BUSINESS - RECORD OF DECISIONS  
 
The Mayor advised that there had been no urgent decisions made 

since the previous meeting of Council. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 
 

 
 

Monday, 13th November, 2023 

 

49. URGENT BUSINESS - GENERAL (IF ANY)  
 
There was no urgent business for consideration on this occasion. 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.01 pm 
and closed at 8.05 pm 

Page 10 Agenda Item 4



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

STATUTORY OFFICER POSTS - APPOINTMENTS 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Luke Court Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and Enabling 

Portfolio Holder Consulted   

Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton 

Report Authors 
Claire Felton & Becky 
Talbot 

Job Title: Head of Legal, Democratic and 
Property Services 
Contact email: 
c.felton@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  
Contact Tel: (01527) 64252 
 
Job Title: Human Resources and Organisational 
Development Manager email: 
becky.talbotbromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  
Contact Tel: (01527) 64252 
 
 

Wards Affected NA 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted N/A 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s)  

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 That the Council RESOLVE that  
 

1.1 Mrs Susan Hanley continue to be appointed as the Interim 
Head of Paid Service, Returning Officer and Electoral 
Registration Officer for Redditch Borough Council on a fixed 
term basis until 30th November 2024 or, if the date is later, until 
such time as a new permanent Head of Paid Service has 
commenced employment with the Council. 
. 

1.2 Subject thereto, Mrs Susan Hanley to be made available under 

the shared services arrangements with Bromsgrove District 

Council to perform such duties as are required in her capacity 

as Interim Head of Paid Service for Bromsgrove District 

Council. 

1.3 Following Mrs Hanley’s resignation from her substantive 

position as Deputy Chief Executive, Members note that, 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5

mailto:c.felton@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk
mailto:c.felton@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

subject to Bromsgrove District Council as employer agreeing 

to the appointment of Mr Peter Carpenter as Deputy Chief 

Executive and Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer) on 

a fixed term basis until 30th November 2024, he will be made 

available under the shared services arrangements to perform 

such duties as are required by his post for Redditch Borough 

Council. 

1.4 For the purposes of Section 151 of the Local Government 

1972, Mr Peter Carpenter be appointed as Section 151 officer 

for Redditch Borough Council. 

1.5  Members note that Mrs Susan Hanley is formally standing 

down as a Director of Rubicon Leisure Limited with immediate 

effect. 

 

2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 This report details proposals in respect of the fixed term appointment of 

Mrs Susan Hanley to enable her to continue in post as the Council’s 
Interim Head of Paid Service, Returning Officer and Electoral 
Registration Officer.  In addition, the fixed term appointment of Mr Peter 
Carpenter to the post of Interim Section 151 Officer and Deputy Chief 
Executive.  Finally, recommendation 1.5 asks Members to note that Mrs 
Hanley has also given her resignation from the position she currently 
holds as a Director for Rubicon Leisure Limited. 

 
3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES 
 
3.1 Following the announcement that the former Chief Executive, Mr Kevin 

Dicks, would be retiring in September 2023, a report was considered by 
Bromsgrove District Council as the employing authority under the 
Shared Services Arrangements. As recommended, Bromsgrove 
Members agreed at their meeting on 19th July 2023 that on the 
retirement of Mr Dicks, Mrs Susan Hanley be appointed as the Council’s 
Head of Paid Service, Returning Officer and Electoral Registration 
Officer.  This was to be on an interim basis until such time as a new 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service could be recruited and 
appointed. 

 
3.2 On 7th August 2023 an urgent decision was made by Redditch Borough 

Council to appoint Mrs Susan Hanley as Interim Head of Paid Service 
for Redditch Borough Council.  This decision was reported to Full 
Council on 25th September 2023. 

Page 12 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

 
3.3 Whilst a recruitment exercise was undertaken for both the posts of Chief 

Executive and Section 151 officer, the Council was unable to recruit on 
this occasion.  The present position therefore is that following Mr Dicks’s 
official retirement in September 2023, Mrs Hanley is acting as Interim 
Chief Executive, Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer for 
both Bromsgrove District Council and Redditch Borough. 

 
3.4 In terms of moving forward, the following issues now need to be 

addressed: - 
 

a. Arranging for a further recruitment process for the two senior officer 
posts to take place; Members will appreciate that appointing to senior 
roles requires a comprehensive recruitment and selection process 
which inevitably will take time to set up and implement. 
 

b. Taking steps to ensure the stability and continuity of the existing senior 
management team until such time as permanent recruitment can be 
implemented.  Given the length of time that implementing step a. may 
take, officers are mindful of the need for any interim arrangements to 
come with assurances and certainty as to timescales. 
 

c. Ensuring that Redditch Borough Council continues to have a Returning 
Officer and Electoral Registration Officer during this period of transition. 

 
Head of Paid Service/Chief Executive post 
 
3.5 The council is required by the provisions of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989 to appoint an officer as the councils Head of Paid 
Service.  Members will be aware that under the current shared services 
arrangements Mrs Hanley is employed by Redditch Borough Council 
and “made available” to carry out her role across both authorities under 
the shared services arrangements. Details of the shared services 
arrangements, which have been in operation between the two councils 
since March 2011 are included in the background papers. 

 
3.6 Mrs Hanley has expressed a wish to retire on the appointment of the 

permanent Chief Executive, and therefore not return to her substantive 

role as Deputy Chief Executive. As such, Mrs Hanley has expressed her 

intention to resign from her substantive post as Deputy Chief Executive.  

This will enable both Councils to consider options regarding the Senior 

Management structure including that of the substantive role of Mrs 

Hanley ahead of her retirement.   

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

3.7 It is proposed that on receiving Mrs Hanley’s notice, Mrs Hanley would 
be appointed as Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service on a 
Fixed Term contract until 30th November 2024.  All other terms and 
conditions would remain unaffected, and as part of the arrangements 
Mrs Hanley would formally agree to forfeit her right to return to a 
substantive permanent role of Deputy Chief Executive.  That said, Mrs 
Hanley has also indicated that should more time be needed from 
December 2024 onwards to finalise a new appointee to the post of Chief 
Executive, she would be willing to extend the fixed term contract to 
accommodate a transition period. 

 
3.8 This report is therefore seeking Members’ approval to appoint Mrs 

Hanley to the Fixed Term contract until 30th November 2024, and once 
appointed, to make her available to cover the parts of her duties which 
relate to Bromsgrove District Council. 

 
3.9 As Members will be aware Rubicon Leisure Limited (“Rubicon”) is the 

wholly owned Council company that delivers leisure services on behalf 
of the Council.  Rubicon is formally registered as a company at 
Companies House and as part of the governance arrangements the 
directors of the company include a number of Redditch officers. 

 
3.10 In light of the proposed change in role Mrs Hanley has indicated that she 

will be standing down as a Director of Rubicon Leisure Limited with 
immediate effect. As set out in Recommendation 1.5, Members are 
asked to note this change.  The necessary formalities to appoint a new 
Director fall under the remit of the Rubicon Shereholders Committee.  
Officers will ensure that the necessary next steps to replace Mrs Hanley 
are considered at the next meeting of the Shareholders Committee. 

 
 
 

Section151 officer 
 
3.11   Members will be aware that under the current shared services 

arrangements, the post of Director of Finance has historically been held 
by an officer employed by Bromsgrove District Council. 

 
3.12 Following the resignation of the former permanent postholder Mr James 

Howse, an interim Chief Finance Officer/ Section 151 Officer was 
recruited.  Accordingly in June 2022 Bromsgrove District Council 
considered a report recommending the appointment of Mr Peter 
Carpenter as Chief Finance Officer/ Interim Section 151 Officer.  In June 
2023, Bromsgrove District Council agreed to extend the arrangements 
for the Interim Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer until 22nd 

Page 14 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

December 2023.  The current arrangement is set up as a placement via 
West Midlands Employers and Mr Carpenter is paid on a daily rate. 

 
3.13 The decisions made by Bromsgrove District Council were reported to 

Redditch Borough Council. At a Council meeting held on 27th June 2022 
Redditch Members agreed to the appointment of Mr Carpenter as Interim 
Chief of Finance and as Section 151 officer for Redditch.  At a Council 
meeting held on 26th June 2023 Members further agreed to extend this 
arrangement until 22nd December 2023.  Following usual shared 
services arrangements, Mr Carpenter has been “made available” to 
cover the Redditch aspect of his role since his appointment by 
Bromsgrove District Council as the employing authority and has acted 
as Section 151 officer for Redditch. 

 
3.14 Whilst the recruitment process of the permanent Section 151 is now 

delayed, the Council remains subject to the legal requirement to have a 
Section 151 officer in place when the current arrangement with Mr 
Carpenter (via West Midlands Employers) ceases on the 22nd December 
2023.  

 
3.15 As Members will be aware, following the Interim Annual Audit Report 

2020/21, both Councils were issued with Section 24 notices in the 
autumn of 2022.  In response to this, a detailed Finance Recovery Plan 
has been put in place for which Mr Peter Carpenter has taken on a key 
leading role.  He is currently overseeing progress on a number of 
business critical workstreams and the Council has benefitted from 
having an experienced and knowledgeable Section 151 officer in post at 
this time. 

 
3.16 Members are advised that key aspects that Mr Carpenter is currently 

working on include: - 
 

 Supervising delivery of closure of the accounts; 

 Working closely with the Council’s internal finance team; 

 Liaising with the Council’s external auditors; and 

 Delivery of the projects linked to the Levelling Up Fund work in 
Bromsgrove and the Town Deal in Redditch. 

 
3.17 To ensure a period of stability at the senior level, it is proposed that Mr 

Carpenter be appointed as Interim Deputy Chief Executive to the post 
made vacant by the resignation of Mrs Hanley, and to the post of Interim 
Executive Director of Resources.  This second role would encompass 
his current role of Section 151 Officer and line managing the Head of 
Finance and Customer Services and Head of Legal, Democratic and 
Property Services.  In addition, the duties would include managing the 
departments currently managed by the Head of Transformation, 

Page 15 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

Organisational Development and Digital Services, who is currently on a 
long term absence. 

 
3.18     This new expanded role would be secured by way of a direct contract of 

employment between Mr Carpenter and Bromsgrove District Council as 
the employing authority on a Fixed Term until 30th November 2024.  As 
previously, Mr Carpenter would be “made available” to Redditch 
Borough Council under the shared service arrangements.  Mr Carpenter 
would also continue to act as Section 151 Officer for Redditch Borough 
Council. 

 
3.19 Members are advised that Ms Michelle Howell, Head of Finance and 

Customer Services and Deputy Section 151 Officer, has tendered her 
resignation for personal reasons, and will be leaving the Council and 
local government in December 2023. Arrangements have been put in 
place via an agency for an interim Head of Finance and Customer 
Services and Deputy Section 151 officer to be engaged.  This will provide 
cover and continuity for the team until such time as a permanent 
replacement can be recruited.   

 
3.20 In conclusion, officers believe that it is imperative that the Council seek 

to enable continuity in the finance team. It is also important that any 
incoming permanent Head of Financial and Customer Services 
(alongside the newly strengthened Finance Team) has sufficient 
coaching, support and leadership over the coming period.  

 
3.21 The appointment of Mr Carpenter would strongly mitigate against the 

risks of loss of knowledge and experience of delivering the statutory 
section 151 functions were Mr Carpenter’s current employment 
arrangements via West Midlands Employers to come to an end.  A 
further risk factor to consider in this regard is that the Deputy Section 
151 officer post is also subject to change at the current time with the 
departure of Ms Howell as set out in paragraph 3.17.  The appointment 
of Mr Carpenter would provide the continuity that is required for specific 
projects.  It would also ensure the Council’s compliance with its 
obligations around the Section 151 function during a period of change 
and allow for continued support to be given to members of the finance 
team in the short term to medium term. 

 
 
3.22 For the reasons detailed above officers are proposing that Mr Carpenter 

be appointed by Bromsgrove District Council as Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive and Interim Director of Resources (including Section 151 
Officer) on a fixed term contract.  A report proposing that appointment 
and mirroring the recommendations in this report will be considered by 

Page 16 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

Members at a meeting of Bromsgrove District Council on 6th December 
2023.  

 
Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer Posts 

 
3.23 Members will recall that under the previous management structure the 

statutory posts in relation to the administration of the elections were held 
by Mr Dicks for Bromsgrove and by Mrs Hanley for Redditch.  Given that 
a new Chief Executive has not been recruited, consideration needs to 
be given to re-appointing to the Bromsgrove statutory election posts.   

 
3.24 As in practice the elections have to be covered simultaneously at both 

Councils, these duties have always been shared by two officers.  The 
proposal therefore is that Mrs Hanley will continue to cover these roles 
for Redditch, and that Mrs Claire Felton, Head of Legal, Democratic and 
Property Services, be appointed as the Returning Officer and Electoral 
Registration Officer for Bromsgrove.   

 
3.25 The appointment of Mrs Felton will be covered in the report to 

Bromsgrove District Council on 6th December 2023, and details are 
included in this report by way of background and for Members’ 
information. 

 
 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   
  
4.1 There are no financial implications for the appointment/continuation of 

Mrs Hanley as Chief Executive. The salary, excluding on costs, for the 
Chief Executive is £142,663 - £148,485, and the changes outlined in 
this report will not create any additional expenditure for this employee.  
These costs are covered 50:50 between Redditch Borough Council and 
Bromsgrove District Council under shared service arrangements. 

 
 
4.2  The salary for the Deputy Chief Executive role is currently £114,444 - 

£118,842, excluding on costs.  The market for interim roles does attract 

a higher market rate and therefore a supplement of £21,158 is proposed 

to retain and appoint Mr Carpenter, with an overall salary of £140,000. 

By re-defining this post to cover expanded duties and switching to a fixed 

term salaried approach, officers believe that better value can be 

achieved for the organisation.  Again, these costs would be covered 

50:50 between Redditch Borough and Bromsgrove District Councils. 

 

 

Page 17 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

4.3 Appointing on a £140,000 salary for full year would result in employer’s 
costs of £158,060.  It should be noted that the employee has indicated 
that they would not wish to be part of the pension scheme which would 
incur an additional cost of £27,440.  

 

4.4 The current Deputy Chief Executive 2023/24 budget provision totals 
£154,260 which includes budget provision for employer’s pension costs.  
When comparing the estimated annual costs of £158,060 to the budget 
provision this would result in a minor overspend which could be 
accommodated within existing budgets.  

 
 
 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 It is a legal requirement that the appointment of the Head of Paid Service 

and “statutory officers” is made by full Council.  This is set out in the 
relevant regulations (The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
Regulations 2001(as amended) Schedule I Part II) which are reproduced 
in the Officer Employment Rules at Part 17 of the Constitution. 

 
5.2    The Council is required to nominate an officer under section 151 of the 

Local Government Act 1972 to be responsible for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs.  The relevant wording states that: -
“Without prejudice to section 111 above, every local authority shall make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and 
shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs.” 

 
5.2 Section 6 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, further sets out 

that “ (1) On and after the commencement day the Common Council shall 
– (a) make arrangements for the proper administration of such of its 
financial affairs as relate to it in its capacity as a local authority, police 
authority, or port health authority, and (b) secure that one of its officers 
has responsibility for the administration of those affairs”. 

 
5.3 Section 113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires that the 

officer appointed as the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) must be a member 
of a specified accountancy body. 

 
5.4 The legislation regarding the appointment of the Council’s Returning 

Officer is set out in Section 35 of the Representation of the People Act 
1983, and the requirement for an Electoral Registration Officer is set out 
in Section 8 of the same Act.  

 

Page 18 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

5.6 External employment legal advice has been taken in preparing the 
report and recommendations.  The approach and recommendations 
have been shared with the Council’s outgoing External Auditor in view 
of the Section 24 Notice, and also with the incoming External Auditor. 
The Auditors have confirmed their view that the proposals are entirely 
reasonable in the circumstances and demonstrates resilience in the 
context of the challenges that were identified in the Interim Annual 
Audit report 2020/2021. 

 
 
6. OTHER - IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose  
 
6.1 Effective financial management underpins all the Council’s operations 

and achievement of strategic purposes.   
 
6.2 The appointment of Mrs Susan Hanley as Interim Head of Paid Service, 

and the appointment of Mr Peter Carpenter as Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive and Interim Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer), on 
fixed term contracts will ensure that there is consistency and continuity 
for the year ahead.   

 
6.3 This continuity will assist the Council in terms of being an effective and 

sustainable authority moving forward. 
 

Climate Change Implications 
 
6.4 There are no specific climate change implications. 
 
 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.5 There are no known equalities implications arising from the options 

outlined in this report. 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 
7.1  As outlined in section 3, the following risks have been identified by this 

report, particularly in relation to the post of Director of Finance and 
Section 151 Officer:- 

 

 Decline in Council performance and focus in terms of high level 
leadership given that a permanent replacement Head of Paid 
Service was not recruited. 

 Loss of lead officer for implementation of Finance Recovery Plan at 
a time when the Council is subject to the Section 24 Notice. 

Page 19 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

 Loss of lead finance officer for the specific projects listed at 
paragraph 3.10. 

 Potential inability to comply with legal requirement for Council to 
have a Section 151 Officer in place given that a permanent 
replacement Section 151 Officer was not recruited and the current 
postholder as Deputy Section 151 Officer is leaving the organisation 
at the end of 2023. 

 Loss to the organisation of knowledge and experience held by the 
current Interim Section 151 Officer. 

 Loss to the organisation of continuity in the Finance Team 
particularly around support for the Head of Finance and Customer 
Services post and more junior team members. 

 
 
7.2 Ways in which the steps recommended in the report will mitigate the 

risks outlined above:- 

 The appointment of an Interim Head of Paid Service on a fixed term 

contract until 30th November 2024 will secure this position for the 

next 12 months and allow for continuity and officer leadership of both 

Councils to be provided by Mrs Hanley remaining in this role. 

 There is scope for this appointment to be extended to cover a 

transition to a new Chief Executive if required. 

 The continuity of employment of the current Director of Finance and 

Section 151 Officer will be secured by employing Mr Carpenter on a 

fixed term contract until 30th November 2024. 

 These arrangements will give the organisation 12 months to carry 

out further recruitment.  

 The vacant post of Deputy Chief Executive will be filled on an interim 

basis giving additional support to the Interim Head of Paid Service. 

 The organisation will be able to retain the professional expertise of 

Mr Carpenter and there will be continuity in respect of the projects 

he is leading on and the support provided to the Finance Team. 

 The Council will be able to fulfil its legal obligations by employing a 

knowledgeable and experienced Section 151 Officer. 

 There will be continuity in respect of the implementation of the 

Council’s Finance Recovery Plan and liaison between the Council 

and its external auditors. 

 
 
8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 Appendix 1 - Structure Chart 
 

Page 20 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Council                                               5th December 

2023
  
 

 

 

Overarching Framework Agreement between Bromsgrove District 
Council and Redditch Borough Council - 21st March 2011 

 
 
9.  REPORT SIGN OFF 
  

 
Department 
 

 
Name and Job Title 

 
Date 
 

 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
Councillor Luke Court 
 

 
 

 
Lead Director / Head of 
Service 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Financial Services 
 

  
 

 
Legal Services 
 

 
Claire Felton, Head of Legal, 
Democratic and Property 
Services 
 

 
 

  

Page 21 Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Current Structure 

 

Proposed Structure 

 

 

Page 23 Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL   
 

Executive/Council  5th December 2023 

 
INTERIM AUDITORS ANNUAL REPORT  2021/22 AND 2022/23 
 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor – Luke Court Portfolio 
Holder for Finance and Enabling 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  - 

Relevant Head of Service Pete Carpenter – Interim Director of 
Finance 

Report Author 
Peter Carpenter 

Job Title: Interim Director of Finance 
Contact email: 
peter.carpenter@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted No 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) An effective and sustainable Council 

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 

 
1.1 The Council has received the Interim Auditor’s Annual Report from our 

External Auditors Grant Thornton for 2021/22 and 2022/23. This was received 
by Audit, Governance and Standards Committee on the 23rd November 2023. 
The report sets out progress since the 2020/21 Report and contains an 
updated Statutory Recommendation with the key reason being the non-
delivery of the 2020/21 and subsequent financial statements.  This report sets 
out the reason for the updated Statutory Recommendation, the progress the 
Council has made since last year’s report, and the process the Council now 
has to follow to rectify that position.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Audit Governance and Standards Committee at their meeting on the 23rd 
November Recommended that Council: 
 

1 Accept the Section 24 Statutory Recommendation and that Council review 
the recommendation, endorse the actions included in the management 
responses which form the rectification process required as per legislation. 

 
3. Background 

 
 Introduction    
 
3.1 The Council received a Section 24 Statutory Recommendation, 6 Key 

Recommendations and 13 Improvement Recommendations in the 2020/21 
Interim Auditor’s Annual Report. During the last year, Members have been 
updated on progress on delivering to the requirements of the Statutory 

Page 25 Agenda Item 6

mailto:peter.carpenter@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL   
 

Executive/Council  5th December 2023 

 
Recommendation and associated financial issues through the Financial 
Compliance Reports that are reviewed at every Audit Governance and 
Standards Committee and the Financial Recovery Reports that go to 
Executive. In addition, a Task Group was convened in Bromsgrove to identify 
the underlying issues for the delivery of the Section 24 Statutory 
Recommendation in February 2023.  This Task Group’s Report was reviewed 
and its recommendations accepted by the Redditch Audit, Governance and 
Standards Committee. 

 
3.2 As set out in those reports the Section 24 Statutory Recommendation is due 

to the issues the Council encountered in the implementation of a new financial 
system in February 2021 and its knock-on effect in terms of staff retention, 
delivery of the 2020/21 and subsequent Accounts, delivery of 2021/22 in year 
monitoring, delivery of Government Returns being key items. 

 
3.3 As set out in the Interim Auditor’s Annual Report 2021/22 and 2022/23 

(attached as Appendix A): 

 The Section 24 Recommendation around the delivery of the 2020/21 
accounts is still in place and has been extended to the subsequent 
accounting periods now outstanding. 

 Of the 6 Key Recommendations in the 2020/21 report, only one serious 
weakness remains in relation to opening balances linked to the budget 
which will be resolved with the delivery of the Accounts, the remainder of 
those significant weaknesses have been resolved or linked to 
Improvement Recommendations (of which there are 10 in the report). 

 There is one new Key Recommendation linked to Organisational 
Capability and Capacity. The Council is mitigating this in the main through 
the rollout of the Workforce Strategy. 

 Of the 13 2020/21 Improvement Recommendations, 9 have been fully or 
partially addressed and 4 are yet to be addressed.  Again, ongoing 
improvements are linked to the 10 new Improvement Recommendations 
set out in the External Auditors report. 

  
3.4 The External Auditors have noted the significant progress the Council has 

made in all areas apart from the delivery of the Accounts.  As such the 
existing S24 Statutory Recommendation remains outstanding in relation to the 
2020/21 Accounts and they have concluded that it is appropriate for them to 
use their powers to make written recommendations under section 24 of the 
Act, with the key reason being the non-delivery of the 2020/21 and 
subsequent Statutory Accounts.  Further details are set out in the attached 
report. 

 
3.5 Schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires the 

following actions: 
o The Council must consider the recommendation at a meeting held 

before the end of the period of one month beginning with the day on 

Page 26 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL   
 

Executive/Council  5th December 2023 

 
which it was sent to the Council. This will take place at the Council 
meeting being scheduled for the on the 5th December 2023. 

o At that public meeting the Council must decide 
 whether the recommendations are to be accepted; and 
 what, if any, action to take in response to these 

recommendations. 
o Schedule 7 specifies the meeting publication requirements that the 

Council must comply with. 
 
3.6 Audit, Governance and Standards Committee at their meeting on the 23rd  

November reviewed the report in the presence of the External Auditors and 
accepted the recommendations and the proposed management actions. 

 
3.7 The External Auditors Report sets out that Management state that the 

proposed resolution of the opening balances (Period 0) as at the 8th February 
have been provided on the 13th November.  Once these are reviewed and 
agreed by the External Auditors the draft 2020/21 Accounts can be provided. 

 
3.8 Page 4 of the External Audit Report sets out the main issues and the 

Council’s Management Reponses to each of those issues. 
 
4. IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 Financial implications are set out in section 3 above. 
 
 Legal Implications 

 
4.2 This is set out in section 3.5 above.   

 
 Service / Operational Implications  

 
4.3 Non-Delivery of the 2020/21 and subsequent Accounts is a fundamental 

deficiency and this is part of the Corporate Risk Register and impacts all 
service areas directly and indirectly. 

 
 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  

 
4.4 There are none of these within this report. 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT    

 
5.1 Non-Delivery of the 2020/21 and subsequent Accounts is a fundamental 

deficiency and this is part of the Corporate Risk Register. 
 
6. APPENDICES 

Page 27 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL   
 

Executive/Council  5th December 2023 

 
 

Appendix A – Redditch Borough Council Section 24 Statutory 
Recommendation – Grant Thornton. 
 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
S24 Report to Audit, Governance and Standard Committee – November 2022 
2020/21 Draft External Auditors Annual Report – Audit, Governance and 
Standards Committee – November 2022 
Financial Compliance Reports to every Audit Committee in 2023 
 

 
7. KEY 

 
None 

 

Page 28 Agenda Item 6



P
age 29

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 6



•

•

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

• P
age 45

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•
•
• P

age 53
A

genda Item
 6



Public

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•
•
•
•
•

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•
•
•
•

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 72

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 6



Public

•

•

•

•

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 6



P
age 80

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 82

A
genda Item

 6



Public

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 6



P
age 84

A
genda Item

 6


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Statutory Officer Posts - Appointments
	Stat officers report Appendix 1

	6 Joint Auditors 2020-2021 and 2022-2023 Annual Report
	Redditch Borough Council - interim AAR - 2021-22 and 2022-23_FINAL
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Executive summary
	Slide 5: Executive summary
	Slide 6: Executive summary
	Slide 7: Executive summary
	Slide 8: Use of auditor's powers
	Slide 9: Recommendation made under section 24 schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14: Key recommendations
	Slide 15: Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the local authority’s use of resources
	Slide 16: Financial sustainability
	Slide 17: Financial sustainability
	Slide 18: Financial sustainability
	Slide 19: Financial sustainability
	Slide 20: Financial sustainability
	Slide 21: Financial sustainability
	Slide 22: Financial sustainability
	Slide 23: Financial sustainability
	Slide 24: Financial sustainability
	Slide 25: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 26: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 27: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 28: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 29: Governance
	Slide 30: Governance
	Slide 31: Governance
	Slide 32: Governance
	Slide 33: Governance
	Slide 34: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 35: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 36: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 37: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 38: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 39: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 40: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 41: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 42: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 43: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 44: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 45: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 46: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 47: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 48: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 49: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 50: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 51: Opinion on the financial statements for 2021/22 and 2022/23
	Slide 52
	Slide 53: Appendix A – Responsibilities of the local authority
	Slide 54: Appendix B – Risks of significant weaknesses, our procedures and findings 
	Slide 55: Appendix C – An explanatory note on recommendations
	Slide 56



